1982

# Bonneville Properties, Inc. v. Dan Simons : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action by plaintiff-appellee, Bonneville Properties, Inc. ("Bonneville"), for breach of contract and unjust enrichment against defendant-appellant, Dan Simons ("Simons"), over the amount of a real estate commission allegedly earned by virtue of a unilateral contract of sub-agency.

## DISPOSITION OF THE LOWER COURT

Judgment was entered on December 22, 1981, by the Honorable Homer F. Wilkinson, District Judge, in favor of Bonneville and against Simons in the sum of \$11,000.00, together with prejudgment interest in the sum of \$3,703.23, calculated at the rate of six percent per annum, and costs of \$222.60, following a trial to the court. The judgment was based upon an offer of a unilateral contract of subagency arising through the advertisement by Simons, a listing agent, of his listing agreement with the Salt Lake Board of Realtors Multiple Listing Service. (Findings of Fact numbers 6 through 8). The trial court held, inter alia, that Simons could not revoke or change the offer of subagency after Bonneville initiated action on the unilateral offer, without regard for whether a ready, willing and able purchaser on the terms specified in the offer had actually been produced. (Findings

of Fact numbers 5, 15, 20 through 23; Conclusions of Law number 5).

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Simons respectfully requests this court to reverse the lower court's judgment for the reasons that (1) it is unsupported by the facts, and (2) it is incorrect as a matter of law.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The basic facts, most of which were stipulated by the parties, are as follows:

Essentially, this appeal involves a listing agreement of Simons' published by the Salt Lake Board of Realtors Multiple Listing Service concerning a warehouse located at 2350 South 2300 West, Salt Lake City, Utah, known as Fashion Fabrics. On January 2, 1975, Simons changed his commission split, reducing the share of the commission payable to the selling broker from 60 percent to 40 percent. The change was published and effective on January 10, 1975. The property was sold pursuant to contingent documents dated February 3, 1975, which closed at some point between March 15 and April 15, 1975, and Bonneville was paid 40 percent of the commission as per the published commission split in effect at that date.

(Tr. 3-4, Ex. 6).

Bonneville is a Utah corporation. L. Richard Sorensen ("Sorensen") is the controlling shareholder and chief executive officer of Bonneville, is a licensed real estate broker and does business as "Bonneville Properties." At the times material to this action Dennis Christensen ("Christensen") worked with Bonneville as a licensed real estate agent. By the terms of his agreement, any commissions due Sorensen or Bonneville on sales generated by Christensen would be divided fifty-fifty between them after deducting ten percent for expenses. (Tr. 5).

Simons is a licensed real estate broker doing business at the material time as Real Estate Consultants. Simons has been a licensed real estate agent since 1959 and a licensed real estate broker since 1968. He has extensive experience in the highly specialized commercial and industrial aspect of the real estate business and has served his profession in numerous capacities, having been for example, Regional Vice President of the National Association of Realtors, Rocky Mountain Region, 1981-82; President of Utah Association of Realtors, 1979-80; and President of Salt Lake Board of Realtors, 1974-75. (Tr. 5-6).

On or about September 25, 1974, Simons entered into an exclusive listing agreement with Fashion Fabrics, Inc. for the sale of the Fashion Fabrics Warehouse located at 2350 South 2300 West, Salt Lake City, Utah. (Tr. 6) (Ex. 3).

Simons advertised the property for sale through the Salt Lake Board of Realtors Multiple Listing Service. (Ex. 1). The Multiple Listing Service, for purposes of this suit, was an arrangement whereby member brokers extended an open, unilateral offer of subagency, for a stipulated commission split, to other member brokers with respect to properties listed with the offering broker. Otherwise, the terms of the offer were at least in part defined by the rules of the Multiple Listing Service. Simons and Sorensen were both members of the Multiple Listing Service. (Tr. 6).

When the Fashion Fabrics property was first advertised through the Multiple Listing Service, Simons' published commission split with the Salt Lake Board of Realtors was sixty percent to the selling broker and forty percent to the listing broker. On or about January 2, 1975, Simons wrote a letter to the Salt Lake Board of Realtors changing his commission split to sixty percent to the listing broker and forty percent to the selling broker. This notice of change of commission split was effective on January 10, 1975, when it was published in the January 10, 1975, Multiple Listing Service book. (Tr. 6-7).

The rules of the Salt Lake Board of Realtors Multiple Listing Service in effect at the material time, which at least in part constituted terms of any unilateral contract reached, stipulated that a commission split must

remain in effect for at least twenty days but could be changed thereafter at any time by giving written notice to the Board, effective when published in the next Multiple Listing Service book. When Simons changed his commission split, no written offer had been submitted or reached by the eventual purchaser of the Fashion Fabrics warehouse which was an essential ingredient of the eventual sale. (Finding of Fact number 16; Tr. 7-8).

In mid-1974, the Adnan and Essam Kashoggi families became interested in developing what is now the Salt Lake International Center. In August, 1974, the Kashoggi families formed a Utah corporation known as A. K. Utah Properties, Inc., d/b/a the Salt Lake International Center, for the purpose of acquiring the property upon which the center was to be located and proceeding with the development. (Tr. 8-9).

Prior to the formation of A. K. Utah Properties, Inc. most of the International Center property was owned by Jelco, Inc., a Utah corporation, but a part of one section necessary for the development was owned by the Robert B. Swaner Company ("Swaner"). Shortly after its formation in August, 1974, A. K. Utah acquired the majority of Jelco's interest in the International Center property, (Tr. 9) leaving the Swaner property as the remaining essential acquisition.

On or about September 25, 1974, A. K. Utah entered into an exchange agreement with Swaner whereby it was agreed

that Swaner would convey its interest in the International Center property to A. K. Utah, Swaner would locate other property satisfactory to it, and A. K. Utah would purchase that property and make a tax free exchange of such property for Swaner's interest in the International Center property.

A. K. Utah's exchange agreement with the Swaner company was eventually performed as modified at some time between mid-March and mid-April, 1975, pursuant to contingent documents dated February 3, 1975, by A. K. Utah's purchase of Fashion Fabric's interest in a building located at 2350 South 2300 West, Salt Lake City, Utah, and the contemporaneous exchange of that interest for Swaner's interest in the International Center property. Neither A. K. Utah nor Jelco, Inc. was ever at any time interested in purchasing the Fashion Fabrics property for its own account. A. K. Utah's only interest in the property was the possible satisfaction of its exchange agreement with the Robert B. Swaner Company. It is the consummation of that exchange transaction and the attendant sale of the Fashion Fabrics warehouse out of which the instant controversy between Bonneville and Simons arises. (Tr. 9-10).

In early December, 1974, Bonneville's agent met with a representative of Jelco, Inc. with regard to the possibility that the Fashion Fabrics property might be used to perform the Swaner exchange agreement. (Tr. 9).

The Executive Vice-President of A. K. Utah, Mr. Emanuel A. Floor, testified that he was in charge of and had "all the authority" with respect to the Fashion Fabrics-Swaner arrangement. Mr. Floor further testified that Jelco, Inc. had no authority to represent A. K. Utah and that neither Bonneville, Sorensen or Christensen were ever retained to represent A. K. Utah on the transaction. (Tr. 231-233) Mr. Floor's testimony is uncontroverted.

It is clear and uncontroverted, therefore, that Bonneville represented no one in the transaction. It is also clear that Bonneville did nothing in the negotiations leading up to the sale. Bonneville's claim is based upon the sole fact that it introduced the idea for the Fashion Fabrics transaction to Simons. The trial court so concluded at Finding of Fact paragraph 11 and Conclusion of Law number 5.

The uncontroverted testimony of Mr. Floor was that prior to January 27, 1975, Jelco, Inc., or its representative, was demanding payment to it of a "special fee" of \$100,000.00, which was not acceptable to either party to the transaction. The trial court concluded at Conclusion of Law number 25 that it was only after that requirement had been dropped that there was any final agreement acceptable to either A. K. Utah (Tr. 237-239, 241), or Fashion Fabrics (Tr. 149-52).

Upon sale of the Fashion Fabrics warehouse a payment became due Simons and other brokers by the seller, Fashion

Fabrics, in the aggregate amount of \$125,000.00. Of this sum, \$25,000.00 was owed and paid to Simons' referring broker, Jim Shaunessey, and is not at issue in this lawsuit, leaving \$100,000.00 due Simons and any other broker entitled to share in the commission. Simon's commission split with other brokers as published through the Salt Lake Board of Realtors at the time contingent documents were executed, February 3, 1975, was sixty percent to the listing broker and forty percent to the selling broker. (Tr. 10-11)

It was agreed by stipulation that Simons in fact believed that he was entitled to sixty percent, or \$60,000.00, and Simons agreed that Sorensen should receive forty percent, or \$40,000.00, in accordance with the published commission split as of that date. Fashion Fabrics could not afford to pay the commission in a lump sum. Simons, therefore, in order to allow the sale to close and in an effort to help Fashion Fabrics with its cash flow problems, agreed to accept payment of the commission in installments. Simons also agreed to a separate agreement between Fashion Fabrics and Bonneville whereby Bonneville got its share of the commission before Simons got his because Christensen was in financial trouble. Bonneville was paid \$40,000.00 in cash. Bonneville paid Christensen \$18,000.00. In July, 1975, Fashion Fabrics had run out of money and Simons agreed to and did accept restricted stock in Fashion Fabrics in satisfaction of the remaining

\$22,000.00 due him. Fashion Fabrics subsequently went out of business and Simons' stock is valueless. (Tr. 11)

It is important to note that there was no agreement, oral or written, between Bonneville, Sorensen or Christensen and Simons with respect to any commission on the Fashion Fabrics listing, apart from any agreement which might be implied or in fact exist by virtue of the respective brokers' membership in the Salt Lake Board of Realtors, Simons' offer of subagency through the Multiple Listing Service, and custom and usage in the trade. (Tr. 12)

Mr. B. L. Scott, Executive Secretary of the Salt Lake Board of Realtors, testified by way of stipulation, and identified the Rules and Regulations governing operation of the Multiple Listing Service. (Ex. 2) Mr. Scott's stipulated testimony was that at the relevant time, when called upon to arbitrate disputes between brokers regarding commission splits, that the split in effect as of the date of a written and binding offer, if such offer did not vary from the terms of the listing, was determinative. (Tr. 18-19) It is uncontroverted that no written, binding offer was ever submitted until the transaction actually closed on or about March 27, 1975, almost three months after Simons changed his commission split.

On or about June 3, 1976, Dennis Christensen filed suit against Dan Simons in the United States District Court for the District of Utah, Civil No. C 76-174, seeking damages

for alleged violations of the antitrust laws of the United States, alleging a conspiracy to deprive Christensen of his fair share of the real estate commission attributable to the sale of the Fashion Fabrics property by virtue of Simons' change in commission split, and a pendent claim for breach of contract concerning the commission, all of which arose out of the same transaction or occurrence which is the subject of the instant action. Simons and Christensen settled that lawsuit pursuant to an agreement, a copy of which was attached to Simons' trial brief as Exhibit "A", and Christensen executed a general release of all claims in favor of Simons, a copy of which was attached to Simons' trial brief as Exhibit "B". Under the terms of Sorensen's agreement with Christensen in effect when the Fashion Fabrics warehouse was sold, Sorensen would have been obligated to pay Christensen, after deducting ten percent for expenses, fifty percent of any commission due Sorensen on the sale. (Tr. 13-14)

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### FUNDAMENTAL UTAH LAW CONCERNING UNILATERAL CONTRACTS OF SUBAGENCY BETWEEN REAL ESTATE BROKERS IS IGNORED

Utah law is clear that a unilateral offer of subagency between real estate brokers may be withdrawn at any time before

it is accepted by producing a written, binding offer from a ready, willing and able purchaser, on the terms specified in the offer. E.g., Boyer Co. v. Lignell, 567 P.2d 1112 (Utah 1977). The trial court misconceived the law in that regard and applied, instead, the minority rule of some other jurisdictions in general contract cases that substantial performance gives rise to an implied promise not to revoke the original offer. See, RESTATEMENT, CONTRACTS, Section 45, Comment g.

The minority rule of the Restatement has never been adopted in Utah. Even if it were, the facts supporting it are not present in this case. The issue of law here, therefore, is whether the well settled Utah law governing brokerage commissions is to be abandoned in favor of a modified version of the minority position.

A. A Broker's Unilateral Offer Of Subagency May Be Withdrawn Before It Is Accepted by Performance.

In essence, Bonneville claims that its agent, Christensen, introduced Simons to the party which purchased the Fashion Fabrics warehouse (Finding of Fact No. 11, Conclusion of Law No. 5); and that the "introduction of the purchaser's name was significant" (Conclusion of Law No. 5) to the transaction contemplated by Simons' open, unilateral offer of subagency. The necessary conclusion, though unarticulated in the Findings and Conclusions, is that the mere act

of introduction rendered Simons' offer irrevocable and not subject to modification. Such a conclusion is not supported by either the facts or the law.

There was no oral or written agreement between Bonneville and Simons apart from any agreement implied by virtue of their respective membership in the Salt Lake Board of Realtors, the rules of the multiple listing service, and custom and usage in the trade. The uncontroverted testimony was that, under those rules, Simons was entitled to change his commission split (that is, to modify his offer of subagency) effective upon publication in the next multiple listing service book, at any time prior to the delivery of a written, binding offer meeting all terms and conditions of the listing agreement or at any time prior to the execution by buyer and seller of a written, binding agreement to other terms. (Findings of Fact No. 27, stipulated testimony of B. L. "Nick" Scott, Executive Secretary, Salt Lake Board of Realtors). See, Boyer Co. v. Lignell, 567 P.2d 1112 (Utah 1977). Here, Simons' modification was given January 2, 1975, (Finding of Fact No. 15) and effective January 10, 1975. The trial court found it to be a fact, conclusive against the position of Bonneville under existing Utah law, that on the effective date of modification, January 10, 1975, there was no written, binding agreement among the parties to the exchange transaction which was eventually consummated on March 27, 1975. (Finding of Fact No. 16).

Sorensen himself admitted that he had been informed by the Board of Realtors that there was no point in filing a complaint with the Board because Simons' change in his commission split was proper and Sorensen would lose. (Tr. 98-101).

Prior to actual performance, it is of no consequence that Bonneville made efforts to perform, which the trial court considered "significant." As the Utah Court said in E. B. Wicks Co. v. Moyle, 103 Utah 554, 137 P.2d 342 (1943):

A broker is never entitled to commissions for unsuccessful efforts. The risk of a failure is wholly his. The reward comes only with his success. That is the plain contract and contemplation of the parties. The broker may devote his time and labor, and expend his money with ever so much devotion to the interests of his employer, and yet if he fails, if without effecting an agreement for accomplishing a bargain, he abandons the effort, or his authority is fairly and in good faith terminated, he gains no right to commissions. Sibbald v. Bethlehem Iron Co., 83 N.Y. 378, 33 Am Rep. 441.

Performance which will constitute acceptance of the offer of subagency must either be a binding offer embodying all of the terms specified in the listing agreement, or constitute buyer and seller's written, binding agreement to other terms. Boyer, supra. Finding a buyer satisfying most of the terms, or on terms substantially the same, or even finding a buyer who agrees to the same terms at a later date, clearly is not sufficient. E. B. Wicks Co., supra. The correct statement of the proposition on the facts of this case, is at RESTATEMENT 2d., AGENCY § 447:

An agent whose compensation is conditioned upon his procuring a transaction on specified terms is not entitled to such compensation if, as a result of his efforts a transaction is effected on different or modified terms, although the principal thereby benefits.

The Utah Court adopted this proposition verbatim in E. B. Wicks Co., supra. The facts of the Wicks case, moreover, are dispositive against the position asserted by Bonneville here for in Wicks the broker was held not entitled to a commission even though an agreement was reached with his client at a later date. Appropos the facts herein, where a commission or "bribe" to Jelco had to be eliminated before there was an offer acceptable to the parties (Finding of Fact No. 25) and Simons had to complete complex negotiations, including many with government authorities (Tr. 270-283 ), the Utah Court, with Justice Wolf concurring separately, held in Wicks that the mere fact that the seller (in that case a lessor) suffered the loss of one months' rental made the performance sufficiently different to preclude entitlement to a commission.

The logic of the foregoing holdings cannot be denied. Simons' initial published listing was stipulated to be 60% "to the selling broker." (emphasis added). No offer was ever made for a mere "finder." When it became obvious that Simons would himself have to perform the services his offer contemplated (see testimony of Simons at Tr. 220-283) concerning the services performed and expenses incurred) it was not only fair, but necessary, for him to change the commission split to

reflect the reality of the transaction as it developed. That he nevertheless agreed to pay 40% to Bonneville, which had done nothing, was in reality an act of generosity, for Bonneville plainly was not the "selling broker."

If it were the law that the offering agent could not revoke or modify an offer of subagency, even to another broker who had undertaken efforts to perform, the result would be sheer chaos. The uncontroverted testimony in this case is that Simons was entertaining offers from a large number of other brokers simultaneously with the A. K. Utah-Swaner negotiations. (Tr. 265-268). If Bonneville were held entitled to complete performance on the offer in effect prior to January 10, 1975, merely because it had devoted efforts prior to that date, then why not each of the other agents for the many other prospective purchasers with whom Simons and Fashion Fabrics were negotiating at the time? The result might mean that an offering broker could incur obligations to any number of performing subagents, possibly after the property was already sold. It would, moreover, be plainly unfair to prohibit brokers from changing their commission splits when the magnitude of time and expense devoted to a particular listing made it unreasonable, uneconomical and unfair to continue to offer a more advantageous split with other brokers who had not yet produced the only thing that counts--that being a sale. The very operation of the real estate industry would be impossible if confined by such

rigid strictures.

B. The Findings By The Trial Court Conclusively Deny Any Acceptance Of The Offer.

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