1982

Bonneville Properties, Inc. v. Dan Simons : Brief of Plaintiff-Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

I

A. Plaintiff Bonneville has earned its commission by substantial performance.

Restatement of Contracts, Section 45, sets forth the generally accepted principle that where substantial performance has been completed by an offeree, a unilateral contract becomes irrevocable for a specified or reasonable amount of time. Section 45 states:

If an offer for a unilateral contract is made, and part of the consideration requested in the offer is given or tendered by the offeree in response thereto, the offeror is bound by a contract, the duty of immediate performance of which is conditional on the full consideration being given or tendered within the time stated in the offer, or, if no time is stated therein, within a reasonable time.

Comment B provides further explanation.

. . . The main offer includes as a subsidiary promise, necessarily implied, that if part of the requested performance is given, the offeror will not revoke his offer, and that if tender is made it will be accepted. Part performance or tender may thus furnish consideration for the subsidiary. Moreover, merely acting in justifiable reliance on an offer may in some cases serve as sufficient reason for making a promise binding. (See Section 90.)

The principles enumerated in the Restatement of Contracts have been adopted by the Utah Supreme Court in the matter of Auerbach's, Inc. vs. Kimball, 572 P.2d 376 (Utah

1977). There, the Court addressing the ability of an employer to withdraw an offer made to an employee for a pension after completion of years of service concluded that after substantial performance the offer could not be withdrawn. At page 378, the Court concluded:

According to Kimball this offer was extended to him by Auerbach's in the 1950's. Auerbach's contends it revoked the offer on April 26, 1971. Since Kimball had performed a substantial part of the performance required in Auerbach's alleged offer, the offeror could not withdraw the offer, and would be bound by its promise. (Citations omitted.)

In the present controversy, Simons made a similar offer to Bonneville. Simons through the Multiple Listing Service offered that in the event another brokerage company were able to find a purchase of the Fashion Fabrics Warehouse that such brokerage company would be entitled to the payment of sixty percent (60%) of the commissions earned. Upon notice of such offer and after communications with Simons, Bonneville, through its agents, disclosed to Simons a prospective purchaser. Subsequent to such performance on the part of Bonneville, Simons attempted to modify the terms of his prior offer by reducing the commission split payable to the selling office. Simons nevertheless agreed that the disclosure of the prospective buyer was "significant" with respect to this transaction. (TR.184) Therefore, in accordance with the rule set forth in the Restatement of Contracts and as adopted by the Supreme Court of the State

of Utah, the offer of Simons became irrevocable allowing Bonneville to thereafter supply the remaining consideration requested, assuming arguendo that any further efforts were required on the part of the Plaintiff.

B. Bonneville Properties, Incorporated has Substantially Performed its Contract with the Defendant.

There can be no dispute in the controversy before the Court that A.K. Utah Properties ultimately, for whatever reason, purchased the interests of Fashion Fabrics in the Fashion Fabrics Warehouse, and that as a result of such purchase, a commission became due and payable to Defendant, Dan Simons. Notwithstanding the admission of Simons that Bonneville was paid in accordance with the commission split in effect as of January 10, 1975, Simons now contends that Bonneville did not perform its agreements thereby precluding it from any claim to further payments. Simons asserts that Plaintiff is not entitled to additional commission because if failed to produce a written binding offer from a buyer ready, willing and able to purchase in accordance with the terms of the Simons' listing and that such offer did not exist as of the effective date of the assignment. It has been established, however, in the matter of Armstrong vs. J.H. Webber & Co., 158 P. 957 (Wash. 1916) that the law of procuring cause is not applicable with respect to suits between brokers or salesmen and brokers. See also Draft vs. Enos, 318 P.2d 66 (Cal. App. 1957). What is significant and

determinative of the rights of the parties is the contract between the respective brokers. Armstrong, supra. In the instant case, the contract between the Plaintiff and Defendant is found to include the terms set forth in Paragraph 17 of the Multiple Listing Rules and Regulations. (Exhibit 3-P)

When one member sells or exchanges property listed with the service by another member, the gross commission shall be divided on a previously agreed basis.

The previously agreed basis, that published in the Multiple Listing Service, provided that sixty percent (60%) would be paid to the selling office. The issue in the present controversy then is whether or not the Plaintiff sold the property listed with the Defendant, and if not, whether such performance was excused by the conduct of the Defendant.

The facts in the present controversy are most appropriately addressed by the law and facts as set forth in the matter of Bowie vs. Martin, 85 A.2d, 786 (Maryland 1952). In that action, the plaintiff and defendant had agreed that if plaintiff were to sell certain property, plaintiff would be entitled to split a commission on a 50-50 basis. The evidence established that the defendant had on numerous occasions previously contacted the ultimate purchasers and that these contracts occurred over a period of time from 1947 to May of 1950. Notwithstanding these contacts, the plaintiff showed the property in question to

the ultimate purchaser in April of 1950 and thereafter made several attempts to contact the defendant broker regarding a proposal for purchase. After these activities of the plaintiff, the prospective purchasers contacted the defendant broker directly with an offer and the defendant broker wrote the contract. (Emphasis added.) Thereafter, with some minor changes made by an attorney, the purchasers signed the agreement and purchased the property. The appellate court upheld the decision of the trial court which found that the plaintiff was entitled to one-half of the commission on the grounds that the purchasers went to the defendant as a result of the efforts and activities of the plaintiff. The Court further concluded that there was no evidence to justify any assertion by the defendant that the plaintiff was inactive or dilatory or acted in bad faith so as to preclude recovery.

In the case before this Court, it is apparent and admitted by Simons that the activities of Bonneville were a "substantial" factor in consummating the sale between A.K. Utah and Fashion Fabrics. Although negotiations were conducted by others, as was the fact in the matter of Bowie vs. Martin, such negotiations would not have taken place but for the activities of Bonneville. As in the case of Bowie, there is no evidence to indicate that Bonneville was inactive, dilatory or acted in bad faith, but in fact, the evidence demonstrates that Bonneville, through its agents,

attempted to involve itself in negotiations, but was excluded by the request of Simons. Therefore, as in the matter of Bowie vs. Martin, the activities of Bonneville are sufficient to constitute a sale and Bonneville thereby earned its commission. By Simons's own conduct and admissions arising therefrom, such activities were sufficient for Fashion Fabrics and Simons to previously pay Bonneville \$40,000.00 in accordance with the modified commission split arrangement.

The conclusion that Bonneville is entitled to its commission is further substantiated by the facts of Armstrong vs. J.H. Webber & Co., supra. In that case, the plaintiff entered into a contract with a broker to receive 50% of all commissions made through her efforts on sales of a rooming house and hotel. The plaintiff thereafter negotiated an exchange of an apartment and rooming house and was discharged by the defendant broker about the time that the transaction was consummated. Although the defendant broker closed the matter himself, the Court concluded that the evidence was sufficient to uphold the trial court's verdict that the plaintiff was entitled to payment of her commissions. This was not withstanding the fact that the contract ultimately concluded between the parties differed in terms from the one originally talked about, since it was one continuous transaction from its origination to its consummation.

Bonneville in this action is also entitled to an award of the additional commission on the principles set forth in the matter of Boyer vs. Lignell, 567 P.2d 1112 (Utah 1977). Although clearly addressing issues with respect to a brokerage arrangement between an owner and broker, the Court adopted the principle "that a party to a real estate listing agreement cannot prevent or interfere with the performance of the agreement and then assert the non-performance as a defense". Boyer Company, supra, at page 1114. The uncontroverted evidence established at trial in this matter demonstrates that Simons precluded Bonneville from further performing in assisting or otherwise negotiating with the respective parties to complete the sale. Therefore, Simons cannot now be heard to complain of any alleged non-performance on behalf of Bonneville. Furthermore, notwithstanding the fact that Bonneville did not participate in final negotiations does not necessarily preclude Bonneville from recovery. In discussing the issue of procuring cause between a broker and owner, the Utah Supreme Court in the matter of Frederick May & Company, Inc. vs. Dunn, 368 P.2d 266 (Utah 1962) stated at page 269:

Usually, whether the broker first approaches, or brings to the attention of the buyer that the property is for sale, or brings the buyer into the picture, is considerable weight in determining whether the buyer (sic - broker?) is the procuring cause of sale. The fact that the sale was consummated without participation by the broker in the final negotiation does not

preclude him from recovering his commission if the sale was otherwise procured by him.

All the principles enumerated above can best be summarized as stated by the Court in the matter of De Benedictis vs. D. Gerechoff, 339 A.2d 225 (N.J. App. 1975) at page 229:

In co-broker agreements the broker who furnishes the buyer to the seller even though the ultimate sell is for a lesser price, is entitled to share in the commission provided, however, that there has been no significant breach in the negotiations. (Citations omitted.)

In the matter before this Court, the evidence is clear and is admitted by Simons that Bonneville furnished the buyer to the seller. Furthermore, the evidence establishes that there was no break in negotiations between the parties and that in light of the introduction occurring in late December 1974 and a letter of intent being signed on January 16, 1975, the matter went together very quickly after such introduction by Bonneville. The evidence clearly indicates that but for this introduction and notwithstanding the efforts of Simons the sale is directly attributable to Bonneville. Bonneville thus performed its original contract with Simons and as such is entitled to payment of an additional commission all in accordance with the original published commission split.

C. Bonneville is Presumed to be Capable of Completing its Contract with Simons.

Simons implies that Bonneville, by its agent Dennis Christensen, was incapable of completing the sale between Fashion Fabrics and A.K. Utah and that this justified a change in the commission split precluding Bonneville from payment of any additional commission. Simons did not raise this matter as a defense in the pleadings, at trial or at a time when Bonneville was paid \$40,000.00 as selling agent. Plaintiff now asserts that this issue is improperly before the Court.

Notwithstanding Simons' failure to raise this issue, Bonneville asserts that resolution of the issue is in its favor. Simons ignores the facts established at trial as well as the statutory licensing requirements for brokers imposed by the State of Utah. Not only was Dennis Christensen to be involved in the sale and negotiations regarding the sale of the Fashion Fabrics Warehouse to A.K. Utah Properties, but L. Richard Sorensen, the official broker for Bonneville, was to be involved. Mr. Sorensen had met with Defendant Simons to discuss the terms of a proposed offer and later attended the meeting whereby Simons was advised of the potential purchaser. Mr. Sorensen expected to continue with the transaction, and in fact, made several telephone calls to monitor the progress of the transaction. As a licensed real estate broker for Bonneville, Mr.

Sorensen and Bonneville have been authorized by the State of Utah to engage in any activity of a real estate broker, as defined by Section 61-2-2, Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended), including but not limited to the sale of industrial and commercial property. "With due regard for the paramount interest of the public," Mr. Sorensen was required to demonstrate to the real estate examiners prior to the issuance of his broker's license his honesty, integrity, truthfulness, reputation and his competency. Utah Code Annotated, Section 61-2-6 (1953, as amended). By the mere act of licensing, the State of Utah has concluded that Mr. Sorensen and Bonneville have met certain levels of competency. This Court must, therefore, presume and conclude that where no evidence exists to the contrary Bonneville and Mr. Sorensen were competent. Simons neither raised Bonneville's competency as an issue nor offered any proof that Bonneville and/or L. Richard Sorensen were incapable of performing its contract with Simons. Beyond its statutory right to act as a broker, it is not Bonneville's obligation to prove its competency, but Simons' obligation to prove Bonneville's incompetency. Simons has totally failed to prove this fact.

DENIAL OF DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR LEAVE TO AMEND HIS ANSWER
SHOULD BE CONFIRMED

As set forth in Defendant-Appellant's Brief, Simons requested leave to amend his Answer five days prior to trial. Simons's Motion was argued before the Court immediately prior to trial on August 31, 1981. As Simons stated in his brief, Bonneville opposed this Motion on the grounds that Bonneville was unprepared to offer any evidence concerning the agency relationship which may have existed between A.K. Utah and Jelco. A particularly important witness, Gary Jenkins, was no longer residing within the State of Utah but in fact resided in Phoenix, Arizona. The representative of A.K. Utah at trial, Mr. Emanuel Floor, did not enter into his employment with A.K. Utah until January 1, 1975, a time subsequent to the introduction. As a consequence, the Court denied Simons' Motion concluding that the prejudice to the Plaintiff outweighed the justice which might be served in allowing amendment to Simons' Answer.

It is a well accepted principle of law that application for leave to amend a pleading is ordinarily addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and that this discretion will not be disturbed upon appeal except in a case of abuse of such discretion. Benson vs. Oregon Shortline R. Co., 35 U. 241, 99 P. 1072. The Utah Supreme Court has further stated that a more liberal rule would be applied in cases

where amendments are offered before trial than where offered during or after trial. At trial the parties might be taken by surprise or handicapped in the meeting of new allegations. Johnson vs. Brinkerhoff, 89 U. 530, 57 P. 2d 1132.

In the case before the Court, Simons admitted in his pleadings, filed almost six (6) years before trial that Bonneville had introduced Simons to the party who purchased the Fashion Fabrics Warehouse. Simons' motion sought to amend this admission, thereafter denying the same. As a consequence, an issue would immediately have arisen concerning Gary Jenkins and Jelco's authority to act for and on behalf of A.K. Utah. This question of principle-agency relationship was not at issue during the discovery period of this case and was only raised by the motion of Simons immediately prior to trial. Inasmuch as Jelco's past representative was then residing in the State of Arizona and inasmuch as no representative of A.K. Utah was available for the applicable period of time, Bonneville was placed at great prejudice in presenting evidence of this potential issue at the time of trial. Bonneville had in fact relied upon the status of the pleadings for a period of approximately six (6) years. To place such a major question at issue immediately prior to trial was unjustifiable. By the same argument, Simons' motion for leave to file an amendment to conform to the evidence was improper. With

Simons' admission, Bonneville was not obligated to introduce evidence of Jenkin's or Jelco's authority to act for A.K. Utah and the district court's refusal to grant Simons' motion was proper.

III

NO PREJUDICIAL ERRORS OCCURRED AT TRIAL REQUIRING REVERSAL OF THE COURT'S JUDGMENT

A. Plaintiff had authority to prosecute this action.

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